
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 3-19502 
 
 
In the Matter of 
 
     ROMAN SLEDZIEJOWSKI,  
 
Respondent. 
 
 

 
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT’S 
MOTION FOR DEFAULT JUDGMENT  

 
Pursuant to Rule 155 of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (“Commission”) 

Rules of Practice, the Division of Enforcement (“Division”) moves for default judgment against 

Respondent Roman Sledziejowski (“Respondent” or “Sledziejowski”), and respectfully shows 

the following: 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 
 

A. Respondent Was Associated With a Commission-Registered Broker-Dealer. 
 

 From September 2006 through November 2012, Sledziejowski was the Chief Executive 

Officer, principle and indirect majority shareholder of TWS Financial, LLC (“TWS”), a 

Commission registered broker-dealer located in Brooklyn, New York.  [See Exhibit A - Appendix 

in Support of this Motion (“App.), attached hereto, at App. 11.]  TWS was owned by Innovest 

Holdings, LLC (“Innovest”), an entity owned and controlled by Sledziejowski.  [Id.] 

B. Responded Was Convicted for Obstructing an SEC Proceeding. 

 On February 12, 2019, Sledziejowski pleaded guilty to one count of obstruction of 

proceedings before a department or agency of the United States (i.e., the Commission) in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1505.  See United States v. Roman Sledziejowski, No. 3:16-CR-101-B 

(N.D. Tex. [Dallas]) (the “Federal Criminal Case”), Doc. 118 (Amended Plea Agreement).  
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[App. 1-9.]  Pursuant to that Plea Agreement, Sledziejowski signed a Factual Resume, which 

admitted and described the facts underlying his conviction, including his association with TWS 

at the time of his offense in August 2012.  [App. 10-13.]   

 Specifically, Sledziejowski admitted that:  

• During August 2012 or earlier, the Commission began an investigation into the 
sale of securities that occurred during July 2012 involving his brokerage, TWS, as 
well as the ultimate distribution of the sale proceeds into the through the accounts 
of Innovest.  [Id. at 11.]   
 

• On or about August 29, 2012, he intentionally endeavored corruptly to influence, 
obstruct and impede the Commission’s investigation by giving evasive and 
misleading answers in sworn testimony, under oath, before the Financial Industry 
Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) concerning the securities sales at issue in the 
Commission’s investigation.  [Id. at 11-12.] 

 
• At the time of his FINRA testimony, he knew about the Commission’s 

investigation, and yet gave evasive and misleading answers with the intent to 
obstruct justice, knowing that his testimony would be provided to the Commission 
for use in its own investigation, and that his answers would likely impede that 
investigation.  [Id. at 13.] 

 
 On February 19, 2019, the district court entered a judgment, sentencing him to a 15-

month prison term (to run concurrently with any sentence imposed by the parallel New York 

state criminal court in the case described below) followed by two years of supervised release and 

ordering him to make restitution in the amount of $522,936.70. [App. 14-20.] 

C. Respondent Was Convicted of Forging a TWS Account Statement.  

 In a parallel New York state criminal case, on March 13, 2019, Sledziejowski pleaded 

guilty to attempted criminal possession of a forged instrument, a second degree felony.  People v. 

Roman Sledziejowski, Case No. 01625-2016 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., Kings Cty.) (the “State Criminal 

Case”).  [App. 29, 21-28.] The charges stemmed from his fraudulent misconduct with a TWS 

customer involving the use of a forged account statement to conceal that he had stolen the 

customer’s money.  That same day, the court sentenced Sledziejowski to three years conditional 
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discharge and an eight-year order of protection.  [App. 29.] 

D. Respondent Has Defaulted in the Instant Proceeding. 

On September 24, 2019, the Commission instituted this proceeding.   See Order Instituting 

Administrative Proceedings Pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 

Notice of Hearing, SEC Rel. No. 87076 (Sept. 24, 2019) (the “OIP”).  [App. 30-33.]  Respondent was 

properly served with the OIP on September 30, 2019.  See Division’s Status Report as to Service 

and attached exhibits, filed Jan. 7, 2020. 

 On April 12, 2021, the Commission issued an Order requiring Respondent to Show Cause 

by April 26, 2021, why the Commission should not find him in default and why this proceeding 

should not be determined against him due to his failure to file an answer or otherwise defend this 

proceeding. Order to Show Cause, SEC Rel. No. 91541 (Apr. 12, 2021) (“Order to Show Cause”). 

The Commission explained that, “[w]hen a party defaults, the allegations in the OIP will be deemed 

to be true and the Commission may determine the proceeding against that party  upon consideration 

of the record without holding a public hearing.” Id. 

To date, Sledziejowski has neither filed an answer to the OIP, nor has he responded to the 

Commission’s        Order to Show Cause or communicated with the Division’s counsel. 

II. ARGUMENT 
 

A. Respondent is in default. 
 

Sledziejowski was properly served on September 30, 2019, pursuant to Rule 141(a)(2)(i) 

of the Rules  of Practice, as reflected in the Commission’s Order to Show Cause. Having been 

properly served, Sledziejowski was required by Rule 220 of the Rules of Practice to file an 

answer within 20 days of September 30, 2019. To date, Sledziejowski has not filed an answer.   

B. The allegations in the OIP are deemed true. 
 

Because Sledziejowski has failed to answer the OIP, Rule 155 of the Rules of Practice 
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provides that Sledziejowski may be deemed to be in default and the Commission may determine 

the  proceeding against him upon consideration of the record, including the OIP, the allegations 

of which may be deemed to be true. See 17 C.F.R. § 201.155(a)(2) (emphasis added); Order to 

Show Cause.   

 Among other things, the OIP alleges: 
 

• From September 2006 through November 2012, Sledziejowski was the CEO, principal 
and indirect majority shareholder of TWS Financial, LLC (“TWS”), a broker-dealer 
registered with the Commission.  [App. 30.] 

 
• On February [12], 2019, Sledziejowski pleaded guilty to one count of obstruction of 

proceedings before a department or agency of the United States in violation of Title 
18 of the United States Code, Section 1505, before the United States District Court 
for the Northern District of Texas in United States v. Roman Sledziejowski, Crim. 
Information No. 3:16-CR-101 (N.D. Tex.).  On February 19, 2019, a judgment in the 
criminal case was entered against Sledziejowski.  He was sentenced to a prison term 
of 15 months followed by two years of supervised release and ordered to make 
restitution in the amount of $522,936.70. [App. 30-31.] 
 

• The count of the superseding criminal information to which Sledziejowski pleaded 
guilty alleges that the SEC had commenced an investigation into sales of certain 
securities and that Sledziejowski intentionally endeavored corruptly to influence, 
obstruct and impede the investigation.  Specifically, the superseding information 
alleges Sledziejowski gave evasive and misleading answers in August 2012 testimony 
before FINRA concerning the identities of individuals in Poland who received funds 
from Innovest, the owner of TWS, following the sale of securities knowing that his 
answers would likely impede the SEC’s investigation. [App. 31.]  

 
• On March 13, 2019, Sledziejowski pleaded guilty to attempted criminal possession of 

a forged instrument, a second degree felony, in New York Supreme Court in Kings 
County.  People v. Roman Sledziejowski, Case No. 01625-2016 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., Kings 
Cty.).  On March 13, 2109, Sledziejowski was sentenced to three years conditional 
discharge and an eight-year order of protection. [Id.]  

 
• The state charges against Sledziejowski stem from his alleged fraudulent misconduct 

with a TWS customer involving the use of a forged account statement.  [Id.] 
 

C. It is in the public interest to impose remedial sanctions against Sledziejowski. 
 
 Section III.B. of the OIP sets out that this proceeding was instituted to determine, “what, 

if any, remedial action is appropriate in the public interest against Respondent pursuant to 
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Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”).  [App.  .]  Section 15(b)(6)(A) of 

the Exchange Act, in relevant part, allows the Commission to censure, place limitations on, 

suspend or bar from association with “a broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal securities 

dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized statistical rating organization, 

or from participating in an offering of penny stock” any person who “has been convicted of any 

offense specified in [Section 15(b)(4)(B)] within ten years of the commencement of the 

proceedings” if the person was associated with a broker at the time of the alleged misconduct and 

the Commission finds that such a sanction is in the public interest.  15 U.S.C. § 78o(b)(6)(A).  

Section 15(b)(4)(B) specifies, among other things, conviction of any felony or misdemeanor 

which the Commission finds involves the purchase or sale of any security, arises out of the 

conduct of the business of a broker, or involves forgery or fraudulent concealment. 15 U.S.C. § 

78o(b)(4)(B). 

  1. Sledziejowski’s criminal convictions require remedial action.  

In the Federal Criminal Case, Sledziejowski was convicted of one count of obstruction of 

proceedings before a department or agency of the United States, i.e., the Commission, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1505.  In the factual resume in support of his guilty plea, Sledziejowski 

admitted that he intentionally endeavored corruptly to obstruct and impede the SEC investigation 

into the activities of TWS and Innovest by giving evasive and misleading testimony to FINRA 

on August 29, 2012 about the recipients of funds from the proceeds of certain securities 

transactions.  He admitted giving the evasive and misleading testimony to FINRA knowing that 

his answers would likely impede the SEC’s investigation.    

In the State Criminal Case, Sledziejowski pleaded guilty to attempted criminal possession 

of a forged instrument, which is a second degree felony.  These charges arose from his handling 

of customer accounts at TWS from November 2011 through February 2012.  At the time of the 
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misconduct for which he was convicted, Sledziejowski was the CEO and an associated person of 

TWS, which was registered with the Commission as a broker-dealer.   

Based on these convictions and the underlying misconduct, remedial action is warranted.  

See, e.g., In the Matter of Kenneth Ko, Exchange Act Rel. No. 34-55827, Admin. Proc. File No. 

3-12606 (May 30, 2007) (ALJ order on default making findings and imposing bar from 

association based on a criminal conviction for obstruction of justice under 18 U.S.C. § 1505); In 

the Matter of Michael J. Fulcher, Advisers Act Rel. No. 3692 (Oct. 16, 2013) (imposing bar 

from association based in part on a criminal conviction for violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1505).   

  2. It is in the public interest to bar Respondent. 

In determining whether remedial sanctions are in the public interest, the Commission 

considers the factors set forth in Steadman v. SEC, 603 F.2d 1126, 1140 (5th Cir. 1979), aff’d on 

other grounds, 450 U.S. 91 (1981). See David R. Wulf, Exchange Act Release No. 77411, 2016 

SEC LEXIS 1074, at *13-14 (March 21, 2016), vacated in part on other grounds, Exchange Act 

Release No. 86309, 2019 SEC LEXIS 1665 (July 5, 2019).  These factors include: (1) the 

egregiousness of a respondent’s actions; (2) the degree of scienter involved; (3) the isolated or 

recurrent nature of the infraction; (4) the recognition of the wrongful nature of the conduct; (5) the 

sincerity of any assurances against future violations; and (6) the likelihood that the respondent’s 

occupation will present opportunities for future violations. Steadman, 603 F.2d at 1140. No single 

factor is dispositive. Id. 

Applying those factors to this case, an industry bar is appropriate.  First, Sledziejowski’s 

conduct in lying under oath and intentionally obstructing the Commission’s investigation was egregious 

and intentional, as he admitted and the criminal courts accepted. [See App. 11.]  Second, his 

convictions establish that he lied both in testimony, and in his dealings with his brokerage 

customers, showing that his misconduct is not isolated to one event or occurrence.  Third, 
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Sledziejowski has presented no admission of wrongdoing, nor has he recognized the wrongful 

nature of his actions or provided any assurances against future violations. To the contrary, he has 

chosen to ignore this legal proceeding brought against him to hold him responsible for his actions.  

Fourth, Sledziejowski’s failure to participate in this proceeding precludes the Division from 

determining, or presenting evidence of, Sledziejowski’s current occupation  and whether that 

occupation presents opportunities for future violations.  According to the Bureau of Prisons 

website, Respondent was released from prison on June 5, 2020.  [App. 34.]  Further, 

Sledziejowski is only 40-years-old [id.], so his relative youth will provide opportunities over a 

longer period of time for future violations.   

On balance, the Steadman factors weigh heavily in favor of protecting the public interest by 

imposing remedial sanctions against Sledziejowski. 

D. The Commission should bar Sledziejowski. 
 
As discussed herein, the evidence is undisputed that: (1) Respondent was convicted of 

offenses specified in Section 15(b)(4)(B) within ten years of the filing of the OIP; (2) 

Respondent was associated with a broker at the time of the misconduct; and (3) the Steadman 

factors weigh heavily in favor of protecting the public interest by imposing remedial 

sanctions against Sledziejowski.  In light of these facts, the statutory authority, and the 

overwhelming weight of the Steadman factors, the Commission should bar Sledziejowski from 

association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal securities dealer, municipal 

advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized statistical rating organization. Allowing 

Sledziejowski to remain in the securities industry would present him with future opportunities for 

further misconduct and would put the investing public at risk. Additionally, imposing a bar against 

Sledziejowski will serve the Commission’s interest in deterring others from engaging in similar 

misconduct. 
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III. CONCLUSION 
 

Based on the foregoing, the Division respectfully requests that the Commission grant this 

motion and impose such further relief as to which the Division may be entitled. 

Dated:  May 24, 2021     Respectfully submitted, 

        
__________________________________ 

       Jennifer D. Reece 
       Texas Bar No. 00796242  
       U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
       Division of Enforcement  
 Fort Worth Regional Office 
 Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900 
 801 Cherry Street, Unit 18 
 Fort Worth, Texas 76102 
       Phone: (817) 978-1410 
       Fax: (817) 978-4927 
       ReeceJ@sec.gov 

  Angelia L. Stewart-Allen (Paralegal) 
  stewartan@sec.gov 

 
 
 

Service List 

 Pursuant to Rule 150 of the Commission's Rules of Practice, I hereby certify that on May 
24, 2021, the foregoing document was filed using the eFAP system and that a true and correct 
copy of the Division of Enforcement’s Motion for Default was served electronically upon each 
person previously agreeing to accept documents by electronic means.  A copy of the foregoing 
pleading has also been provided to the APFilings@sec.gov mailbox.   
 

       
       __________________________________ 
       Jennifer D. Reece 
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